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There are few subjects that interest us more generally than the adventures of robbers and bandits.

—SCOTTISH WRITER CHARLES MACFARLANE, CA. 1830
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Start at the end, they say.

The last member of Butch Cassidy’s gang, the Wild Bunch, went into the ground in December 1961. Which means that someone who held the horses during an old-school Western train robbery, or had been otherwise involved with the kind of men who crouched behind boulders with six-guns in their hands and bandannas tied around their sunburnt faces, might have voted for John F. Kennedy (or Richard Nixon), seen the movie West Side Story or heard Del Shannon sing run-run-run-run-runaway—that is, if she hadn’t been rendered deaf years earlier during the blasting open of a Union Pacific express car safe. Her outlaw buddies were always a little heavy-handed with the dynamite.

Yes—she. The Wild Bunch, which some writers have called the biggest and most structurally complex criminal organization of the late nineteenth century, came down, in the end, to one little old lady sitting in a small, dark apartment in Memphis. Laura Bullion died in obscurity eight years before the movie Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid, starring Paul Newman and Robert Redford, revitalized the almost-forgotten semilegend in which she had played a minor but authentic part. Her obituary did not make the newspapers. If anyone saw the cryptic hint of a previous life on her headstone—“The Thorny Rose,” the inscription says—he didn’t question it publicly. Yet for a time, in a different world, a world where outlaws needed their horses held and their ashes hauled, Laura was in several ways a wanted woman. Reporters and Pinkerton detectives knew her name and sought her out for interviews.

Laura Bullion had been a gun moll before the term existed—not one of the all-time greats, perhaps, owing to her natural reticence and plain face. She stands, for example, eternally in the shadow of Ethel Place, Sundance’s mysterious inamorata (usually referred to, mistakenly, as Etta), who was every bit as beautiful as Katharine Ross, the actress who played her on the screen, and whom Cassidy once called “an excellent housekeeper with the heart of a whore.” Yet in terms of curriculum vitae, at least, Laura was a classic “Molly.” She had danced, as she put it euphemistically in Texas gambling halls, taken on a bewildering number of aliases—including Della Rose, a name she used while working in Fanny Porter’s famous sporting house on Delarosa Street in San Antonio—and traveled with the kind of bad boys who had pistols in their pockets and were happy to see her.

Laura’s first love, chronologically, was the dapper Will Carver, given the nickname “News” in the movie because he liked to see his name in the frontier dailies. She met him when she was fourteen and he was married to her Aunt Viana; they all lived together in a small house in West Texas, and Laura said she and her uncle “got brushed up a heap agin each other” in the tight quarters, which eventually caused romantic sparks. It was around then that Carver transformed himself from an honest ranch hand who worked for the standard dollar a day to an associate of outlaws like Tom “Black Jack” Ketchum and Butch Cassidy. Though inevitably cast in a supporting role by his crew leaders, Carver became over time almost a caricature of an old-time criminal, dressing “like a Texas gambler,” according to one lawman; affecting a haughty, R. Crumb-ish way of striding out in which his feet preceded the rest of his body; and talking like a dime-novel desperado. When he was confronted in a Sonora, Texas, bakery (where he had gone to buy grain for his horse) by a sheriff who wanted to speak to him about the very badass-sounding crime of killing a man in Concho County, Carver whipped out his six-gun—like other Wild Bunchers, including Cassidy himself, he was known as a superior marksman—but the barrel got tangled in his fancy suspenders, and the sheriff just shrugged and shot him in the chest. Carver’s last words were supposedly, “Die game, boys!”

Laura took the news with mixed emotions. In her diary she wrote: “W. R. Carver, killed Tuesday, April 2, 1901. He has fled. I wish him dead, he that wrought my ruin. O, the flattery and the craft, which were my undoing.” (She herself was no stranger to dime novels.) Before long, though, seeking consolation, she moved on to another member of the gang, Ben Kilpatrick. Laura and “the Tall Texan,” as he was known in those nickname-crazed days, made an odd-looking couple: he was in the vicinity of six feet; she, four foot eleven. But they became soulmates—and in a poetic sense, cellmates, who served long, more-or-less simultaneous sentences in far-distant penitentiaries after they were arrested in Saint Louis in 1901 with $8,500 in stolen banknotes. They stayed in touch while incarcerated. “I received the little lead pencil you sent and it just could not be prettier,” she wrote to Ben. “I think it is too sweet to be used and would not take anything for it”—and briefly reunited years later, following his release. They might have grown old together if Kilpatrick had grown old. Instead, while robbing the safe on a train full of oysters near Sanderson, Texas, in 1912, he had his skull fatally fractured by a railroad messenger wielding an ice mallet. Excited townsfolk prepared Kilpatrick’s body for the trophy photo that was practically de rigueur in those days after you’d assassinated a well-known outlaw, but rather than keeping him horizontal, they propped him up on his feet so the local shutterbug could get a better angle. (You can see the picture in the photo insert of this book.) He and his deceased accomplice, known as Ole Beck, look like a couple of high-end scarecrows.

Not every cowboy bandit came to such a calamitous and entertaining end, of course. Many were dim-witted, depressing, murderous men—“human donkeys,” to borrow a phrase from Mark Twain’s Western travelogue Roughing It—who simply disappeared from history. Or they went straight, settling for quotidian jobs like bartender or, in more than a couple of cases, lawman. I will not concern myself overly much with such ordinary criminals but will focus instead on the more evolved class of outlaws who embodied the populist spirt of the late nineteenth century and showed enough self-awareness and style to give the newspapers and other mythmakers something to work with. A few of that sort wound up serving as consultants on early Hollywood Westerns. The handsome and witty Elzy Lay, a likely ancestor of the potato chip magnate and Butch’s best friend in the years before he moved to South America with the Sundance Kid (ne Harry Alonzo Longabaugh), is buried in Los Angeles’s Forest Lawn cemetery among the movie stars he is said to have coached occasionally. He was sixty-five when he died in 1934—exceedingly old for an outlaw, though Bat Masterson and Wyatt Earp lived to sixty-seven and eighty, respectively. Laura Bullion survived until age eighty-five, having supported herself in later life as a department store seamstress. Even in her final days, spent in a charity ward of Tennessee’s Shelby County Hospital, “she remained mentally alert and retained a sense of humor,” one relative said.

Butch Cassidy also had a well-honed wit—but the ones who left others laughing were the exceptions. Most Western outlaws, be they dashing or dull, wound up demonstrating the dreary dictum that crime does not pay—and, on the contrary, tends to extract a heavy toll on the perpetrator. So many died young after being pursued and shot at and penned up like animals until the morning they were led through a sea of gawkers to the gallows. None of them, as far we know, died rich. Yet—and this is what I think makes at least some of them worthy of our extended consideration—even though they knew just how awful the terms were, they persisted in making the bargain. Riding with the gang was all that mattered—if only because when you were doing that, you weren’t herding cattle or mending fences or shoveling horse manure amidst relentlessly picturesque scenery while the idiot wind howled. That cowboy crap gets old fast. The much-romanticized Western way of life was in practice often boring and nerve wracking at the same time. (Yes, you slept out under the stars, but the cowboy code said that you always woke up a colleague by voice, never by touch, because if you prodded or shook him, he might come to with a start, grab his gun, and kill you.) “I have worked six years in cow outfits and am fed up on cow punching so I am quitting,” wrote Reuben B. Mullins in his memoir, Pulling Leather, published in 1988, more than fifty years after his death. “Any young man who will punch cows for an extended number of years isn’t normal.”

As Caroline Fraser, the biographer of Laura Ingalls Wilder, author of Little House on the Prairie, has noted, you can romanticize it all you want, but the life made possible by the Homestead Act of 1862 destroyed more people than it helped.

A new day was soon coming when many rural Americans, wanting something better for themselves and seeing how the little man was getting squeezed out of farming and cattle raising, would sell their homesteads and migrate to big cities, work only fifty hours a week, drive cars, and make enough money to go to ball games and photoplays (and develop all kinds of emotional and digestive disorders that their ancestors never knew existed). But that day wasn’t coming fast enough for the more restless members of the post–Civil War generation born out beyond the 100th meridian, the line that separated arable from arid soil on the great American grid. Those young men and women thirsted for a dose of excitement and a shot at wealth, and as fate would have it, the chance to try your luck at the game of “throw ’em up” (outlaws actually said this more often than “stick ’em up,” it seems) was as close as the nearest train or bank.

The nice thing about gang life, at least in the Wild Bunch, was that everyone seemed to understand his role. Ringleader was not a position many aspired to—for the most part, it was like being the alpha steer in a cattle herd; either you were or you weren’t, for reasons that are best ascribed to “nature” and left at that. As masterminds of a sort, Cassidy and Sundance probably took a bigger cut of the booty than their cohorts did, but by the time the money was divvied up and then squandered in the stupid but obligatory post-heist spree, not enough remained for anyone to get excited about. Especially in the early years of their careers, the Wild Bunch were like struggling actors who have to support themselves as waiters or dog-walkers; between gigs, everyone was equally in need of legit work. This kept them humble and meant that when the gang reconvened to pull a heist, the roles had been already assigned; office politics—or, rather, campfire, politics—were usually not an issue, and no one got stabbed in the back. At least not figuratively. Laura, Will, Ben, Elzy, Sundance, Ethel—all of them and a raucous gaggle of others were content to be mere ripples so long as Butch Cassidy was the stone.
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Decades after his initial encounter with Butch Cassidy, when he was a retiree doing an interview on the radio about the bygone days of the Wild West, Christian Heiden, a kid who drove the stagecoach on Wyoming’s Greybull River Road in the early 1890s, remembered the moment vividly—as well he might, since Cassidy that day rode right up to him dragging an angry mountain lion on the end of a rope. They made quite a picture: the smiling, bright-eyed cowboy and the snarling, spitting cat. Heiden, newly arrived from Mecklenburg, Germany, and all of fifteen at the time, fell instantly in love.

It was easy to be smitten by Cassidy, who was then about twenty-five years old and, with only one bank robbery and a smattering of small-time cattle rustling to his credit, really still an outlaw in training. He wasn’t yet known much outside the sparsely populated Big Horn Basin—he would never be as famous as his predecessors Jesse James and Billy the Kid, at least not until Hollywood made a movie about him and the Sundance Kid—but he moved with grace, dressed with flair, and displayed a fine if sometimes overly raucous wit.

He also possessed the complete cowboy skill set, no small thing at a time when Westerners turned out in force to see their culture celebrated in Buffalo Bill’s traveling extravaganzas. After deftly lassoing the mountain lion earlier that day, Cassidy had thought it might be amusing to take it to the saloon in the nearby hamlet of Embar—outside of which young Heiden happened to be standing. Game animals were going the way of the buffalo in those parts, and the predators who depended on them were venturing closer to civilization, arousing curiosity. Cassidy knew that a 150-pound kitten tied to a hitching post in the middle of town could be counted on to draw appreciative cusses.

These were the innocent times. Butch at this point was still more interested in battling the crushing monotony of daily existence in the intermountain West than in robbing banks and railroads. He liked to ride and bet on horses in races at the local carnivals; go to Friday-night dances; play poker, faro, and the harmonica; shoot at targets, sip a little Old Crow; chat up the ladies; fool with the children—all while presenting himself to the world as a carefree cowpoke named George Cassidy who had made his way out to those parts from New York City. In fact, he was Robert LeRoy Parker, born poor in Beaver, Utah—but cloaking himself in a colorful persona somehow added to the fun.

Cassidy’s life just then was on the verge of change. Within a year or so, a harsh—and, he sincerely felt, unjust—punishment would jolt him out of his prolonged adolescence and dim the brightness in his sea-blue (at times verging on gray) eyes. While he may not have ever actually said, “If you’re going to treat me like a criminal, I might as well act like one,” that effectively became his credo as he segued over the course of his initial, two-year prison stay into a complicated, sometimes contradictory adult. From the moment he had decided to turn outlaw, he wondered if the life was worth it. Butch in flush times might be so weighed down with gold pieces that his horse hated the very sight of him, and he suffered at least once from what may be the ultimate mixed blessing: money-belt sores. Meanwhile, he could no longer sleep soundly or sit for a meal with his back to the door. (In 1876 Wild Bill Hickok had been fatally shot during a card game while sitting with his back to the door.) He had no peace. After he got out of prison, and promptly resumed his life of crime, he saw the world through an even darker lens. His sense of humor became braided with cynicism; his once lighthearted playacting took on a new and more serious purpose: confounding the people who sought to kill him or take away his freedom. To put it in poker terms, he was all in at that point, a man on the lam, guilty as charged—and yet always observing a strict moral code.

He would never have called it that, of course. Butch read a lot of books for a poor Mormon farm boy, and his letters show that he could turn a phrase nicely, but he was never one to get highfalutin or preachy. He exhibited no vestiges of the religious beliefs that had brought his grandparents from England to Utah; from (he could not have helped noticing ruefully) one unspeakably horrible situation to another, with an awful lot of anguish in between. He may not have been driven by ethical considerations at all; he may have simply come over time to believe, as some practical-minded Mafia dons did later, that gratuitous violence only made one’s work life more difficult. Blood, after all, is slippery stuff. Still, it is tempting to admire him because all of his rules, such as they were—meaning unwritten and quite likely unspoken as well—were about doing what he thought was right, even if that was relatively difficult.

For one thing, he did not kill people, and neither did the men (and, on rare occasion, women) who rode with him in a loosely organized gang that local folks and newspapers liked to call the Wild Bunch. Not that they were milquetoasts or pacifists, those Civil War babies gone bad; virtually all, in fact, were violent criminals before and after their time with Butch—and even he did not hesitate to conk a railroad conductor with the barrel of his big, wooden-handled Colt .45 if the man took too long to open a strongbox. The difference was that Cassidy’s outbursts were always strategic. In a criminal operation, the appearance of ruthlessness was key to a smooth, safe operation, he knew—just as being freshly bathed and well dressed sent a signal that he and his cohorts were serious professionals not to be trifled with. “Our greatest defense was our reputation as being bad men,” said one gang member. “It was a game of draw and bluff.”

They played the game with panache—and admirable restraint. Triggers were squeezed mostly in celebration as the gang galloped off into the sunset (yes, just like in the movies), or in self-defense to discourage a pursuing posse. With one late-career exception, which we will discuss ahead, no one ever died as a result of one of Cassidy’s carefully planned heists. Indeed, ordinary folks were not even hurt financially by Butch and his boys, who drew a bright line between banks and railroads and the people who patronized them. “Put that away!” they would say when nervous bystanders and train passengers proffered pocket watches and purses. “We don’t want yours, we want theirs”—meaning the loot about to be liberated, sometimes with the help of lavish amounts of dynamite (cowboys will be boys), from some company-owned safe. What the academics call “social bandits” have always cast themselves as friends of the little man, but it’s usually a specious, self-aggrandizing claim. Cassidy and company, however, were actually willing to limit the return on their risk based on their populist principles.

And make no mistake, the risk they assumed was considerable. Railroad robbery was then a capital crime in several Western states. One of Cassidy’s coevals, Tom Ketchum, received a death sentence for “felonious assault on a train,” even though no one was killed during his transgression. When they hanged him in Clayton, New Mexico, on April 26, 1901, his head got yanked off because he had put on so much weight during the appeals process—but that is a story for another campfire.

Cassidy’s style of leadership was as ineffable as his sense of right and wrong. So subtle were his methods, in fact, that some Old West researchers question whether he was the leader at all, noting that the occasional gang member Harvey Logan, aka Kid Curry, the shame of Richland, Iowa, was a more notorious outlaw than Cassidy for a while and had a thicker file at the Chicago headquarters of the Pinkerton Detective Agency, often hired by railroads and other companies to combat robberies in those days before the FBI.

It is only logical to think Logan would dominate Cassidy in the hierarchy of an outlaw clique. The former was a fierce and pitiless man, small and sinewy with, said one writer, “dark, blowtorch eyes,” not to mention several dozen notches on his gun butt. “He would shoot a man just to see him quiver,” said an agent for the Union Pacific. Butch, never judgmental about the company he kept, effusively praised Logan’s temperament and marksmanship as well as his loyalty and overall competence in the clutch. And because Logan had already established himself as a master thief (he once managed to steal the pack of bloodhounds that was pursuing him) and a varmint supreme (he didn’t just kill people, he killed people named Pike Landusky, in places like One-Legged Jew Jake’s Saloon), it seemed likely that he could make others kowtow to his orders.

On top of that, Logan had done things a cowboy who dreams of executive-level outlawry was supposed to do: he’d acquired a newspaper-friendly nickname, Kid Curry; he’d plucked a trophy (if common-law) wife out of Madam Fannie Porter’s sporting house, in San Antonio, one of the finest names in whoredom; and he’d cultivated a seriously bushy moustache, which theoretically added to his air of authority. (In fact, it made him look like the silent-movie comic Ben Turpin.) Butch, on the other hand, was clean shaven and quick witted, a wannabe New Yorker, and a blue-eyed, handsome heartbreaker so culturally attuned and conversationally nimble that some outlaw historians have wondered about his sexual orientation. By all rights, he should have been muscled to the side by the hellish Harvey.

Yet that’s not what happened. Instead, from the beginning it was Butch who silently set the tone and Logan and all the others—a bevy of curs and Gun Mollies including Sundance’s stunning paramour Ethel Place—who fell in line and copied his example. Yes, it probably helped that he could put a pistol shot through the center of a playing card at fifty paces and leap a bank counter in a single bound. But something more powerful than professional admiration defined the group dynamic: the legendary Cassidy charisma. “In many ways, Butch was the wisest of all the outlaws I knew,” said one gang member who had fallen under his thrall, “and you could depend on his hunches.”

Whether that was entirely true was less important than the fact that so many, in and out of the Wild Bunch, believed that he was a special person; the best bad man they had ever encountered. “I wouldn’t have wanted to be in a teller’s cage when he came through the door of a bank,” said a Wyoming codger interviewed by the Cassidy biographer Richard Patterson, “but if I ever met him in a saloon, I sure would have bought him a drink.” Children flocked to Butch, who always had some rock candy in his saddlebag, and was willing to hoist them onto his horse and give them a ride. Women got into knock-down-drag-outs over him, even as he moved on to fresh pastures. More than one Western governor took an extraordinary interest in his welfare and tried to persuade Butch to use his powers for good. A Wyoming judge who sent him to prison, only to have a change of heart, wrote a letter to the governor in which he pleaded for Cassidy to be pardoned, calling him “a brave, daring fellow well calculated to be a leader.” The author Charles Kelly, who tracked down several Cassidy contemporaries for his groundbreaking 1938 book Outlaw Trail, wrote that “All old-timers interviewed for this biography, including officers who hunted him, were unanimous in saying ‘Butch Cassidy was one of the finest men I ever knew.’ ”

To some extent, Cassidy’s appeal is explainable. Over and over, he proved to be a man of his word. If he assured a sheriff that he did not need to be shackled on a long journey to the hoosegow, he did not run away, even if his chaperone dozed off. Asked why once, he shrugged and said, “Honor among thieves, I guess.” He also seemed to have taken pity at times on the hardworking lawmen who risked their lives for $50 a month.

Clearly, Bob Parker was born to play the role of Butch Cassidy. He was five foot nine or so, the perfect size for a long rider (burly six-foot-something types being hard on the average horse). He was square jawed and sandy haired, good-looking yet not so beautiful as to incite ridicule or jealousy. He also seemed to possess from birth a set of standards below which he believed a gentleman should never sink. Served a meal of jackrabbit at a backcountry inn one evening, he quietly rose from the table, rode a short way off, and shot a cow, so that everyone in the place could have steak.

Generosity was his strong suit, even if he was not really the Robin Hood figure his adoring fans have sometimes made him out to be. People liked to tell the story of how he once paid off a poor widow’s mortgage, then the next day robbed back those funds and more from the same bank. While that has the whiff of a conventional outlaw legend—the sort of folk yarn that might have been spun just as easily about Jesse James or Giuseppe Musolino, the legendary Italian bandit king; or Sandor Rozsa, the highwayman of the great Hungarian plain; or the Australian bushranger Ned Kelly—it is true that Cassidy displayed the profligate spending habits of a heavyweight champ, and that the money that ran so quickly through his fingers often found its way into the households of the needy (as well as the cash boxes of saloons and the garter belts of dance hall girls). So, no, the second coming of the seraph of Sherwood Forest he was not. But if you tugged at his sleeve (or his heartstrings) as he passed through town, he might well flip you a $10 gold piece or slip you a stack of dynamite-singed bills, along with his sincere good wishes. “Butch took care of more people than FDR, and with no red tape,” is how one of his ex-girlfriends later put it.

Charisma, though, is never just the sum of someone’s sterling attributes. Nor is it always the same mysterious thing, as the diverse cases of Joan of Arc, Willie Mays, and Steve Jobs demonstrate. Butch’s particular power to impress people was rooted in his convivial personality; he was a man, like the sixteenth-century French essayist Michel de Montaigne, “born for company and friendship.” Source after source mention his openness, his quick smile, his genuine zest for ordinary conversation with regular folk, especially in contrast to the often aloof and sometimes surly Harry Longabaugh (Sundance). “In Argentina, we have the slang word extrador for someone like Butch,” Carlos Dante Ferrari, a retired judge from Patagonia, who has spent decades studying the outlaw, especially his late-career South American sojourn, told me. “It literally means ‘incoming.’ Butch was more than just an outgoing man. He was also extrador—the sort who could somehow seduce you, pierce your exterior, and get inside you.”

The sexual entendre is apt. When you engage with an inveterate mingler like Cassidy, you gaze into a very forgiving mirror, the magical kind that comes complete with airbrushing and back lighting. In his smiling eyes, you see your own best self, leading you to instantly relax and slip into something more comfortable in terms of mood. For the effect to work, the seducer must be sincere—and yet how can a man be truly taken with virtually everyone he encounters on the long receiving line of life?

What Cassidy seemed to delight in consistently was society itself—the admittedly artificial and byzantine ways that homo sapiens, when they come together in circumscribed groups and defined spaces, agree to behave, as a way of tempering chaos, making things pleasanter, or avoiding existential angst. Unlike his pal Longabaugh, who had grown up in a bustling Pennsylvania canal town and came west in search of the vast empty spaces he had read about in dime novels, Butch dreamt of dwelling in the civilized world as he slept beneath the stars and behind the familiar rock formations that provided sanctuary along the Outlaw Trail, a loose network of hideouts stretching from Montana to Mexico. Because he’d been born into the Western country, he didn’t romanticize it; rather, his life became in part a reaction to its well-known powers to numb the mind, heart, and soul. He was, at bottom, a dude in desperado’s clothing, yearning ever eastward and toward the twentieth century.

Sometimes, though, he was a dude in dude’s clothing. Cassidy loved Tiffany watches, patent leather shoes, derby hats—and the new ragtime. He died in a suit of yellow cashmere. Not surprisingly, given his proclivities, he studied manners and carefully minded his own. An ex-boss at one of his occasional legit jobs called him “an exceptionally pleasant and even cultured and charming man. He used good language and was never vulgar.” So it was even when he entered a railroad express car, waving a gun and wearing a bandanna around his face: the mask of the bandit concealed the mask of the man in the workplace, behind which was the boy from Beaver eager to play his role to the hilt. “Pardon us,” he once said while flashing his smile at a rider transporting a hefty mine payroll, “but we know you have a lot of money, and we have a great need.”



Doesn’t that sound like a line from a movie? It has been a long time since most people saw Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid, but if, as I describe the historical Butch, the image of Paul Newman, playing a charming and witty character of the same name, comes gradually into focus, be assured you are in good company. Many of those who have spent their lives and life savings researching the outlaw have concluded that William Goldman, who wrote the screenplay for the 1969 film, got it right in some fundamental way, especially about the outlaw born Robert LeRoy Parker. “Goldman may have invented the dialogue, but he captured the spirit of the real Cassidy,” the historian Daniel Buck says in an intriguing book about the Cassidy obsession called Digging Up Butch and Sundance, written by his once equally obsessed but now admirably patient wife, Anne Meadows.

Butch’s much younger sibling, Lula Betenson, who was still alive (and kicking about not getting any money) when the movie came out, even said that Newman had “a certain ‘family’ look,” especially as it pertained to those blue eyes. Normally, of course, accuracy is of little concern in the world of feature films. The composer Antonio Salieri did not attempt to poison Mozart, as the movie Amadeus would have us believe; in Braveheart, Scottish rebels wear kilts three centuries too soon; Krakatoa is west of Java everywhere but in Krakatoa, East of Java. And so on. Westerns, by now, are almost by sacred tradition wildly off base—sanitized, usually—so that we can cheer for Wyatt Earp (Henry Fonda, Burt Lancaster, Kevin Costner), Wild Bill Hickok (Gary Cooper, Guy Madison, Jeff Bridges, Josh Brolin), and Calamity Jane (Jane Russell, Yvonne De Carlo, Doris Day, Catherine O’Hara) without troubling over their having been, respectively, a shameless self-promoter, a convicted pimp, and a drunken, disease-ridden prostitute.

That Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid managed to capture a much more elusive figure than any of the above may look at first like a rare confluence of entertainment and scholarship, but, in fact, it was only an accident. Though the movie begins famously with the epigraph “Most of what follows is true,” most of it patently isn’t because Goldman did only sporadic and superficial research over the eight-year period he kicked around the idea (he said he didn’t want to be “constricted by the facts”), and Newman, in keeping with his laid-back approach to his craft, apparently did none whatsoever. It just so happened that the real Butch Cassidy had molded himself, avant la lettre, into a figure with a high cinematic sheen. “Pardon us, but we know you have a lot of money, and we have a great need.” Almost any cunning and debonair Western movie hero, quick on the draw and tall in the saddle, is bound to resemble him at least a little.



It’s the Cassidy-and-Sundance story that refused to follow the Western movie rulebook. One inconvenient truth for someone trying to fashion a feel-good big-studio film in the late 1960s was that Cassidy’s career owed much to the failing promise of the supposedly golden West. Frontier life in the 1880s and ’90s, the historian Bernard DeVoto tells us, was not marked by a rousing spirit of adventure and an appealing rough justice, as Hollywood would have us believe, but rather by “loneliness, hardship, and social deterioration” on a scale that was nothing short of shameful. Mark Twain set out to dig for gold in the hills of Nevada, not to practice agriculture and raise a family—still, the moral of his memoir Roughing It, as the writer Christopher Knowlton has noted, could also apply to the majority of those who went west in the late nineteenth century, fleeing the financial panics and bank failures that occurred every decade back east. “So vanished my dream. So melted my wealth away. So toppled my airy castle to the earth and left me stricken and forlorn.”

Despite what people had been told by politicians, bankers, and railroad magnates trying to encourage settlement beyond the 100th meridian—and what they’d been told, the courageous myth busting geologist and explorer John Wesley Powell (1834–1902) reminds us, was that “agriculture was effortless; no forests needed clearing, manual tillage was not required, even the use of the plow was not essential, so eager were seeds to germinate in this Paradise”—the conditions were, in fact, far too dry to support commercial farming. Most of the trusting, optimistic souls who followed the false advertising out west after the Civil War, willing to work hard and hoping for a new start or at least a fair shake, struggled to feed even their own families.

As a way of compensating for the arid soil and the corresponding low crop yields, the federal government tried giving away much larger plots of land than were doled out under the original Homestead Act of 1862: in some cases 4 square miles, or 2,560 acres, as opposed to the once-standard 160-acre parcel. But that didn’t solve the basic problem because, oddly enough, the skies did not accommodate themselves to the activity of the pioneers below, as the promoters of the West had with a straight face assured the settlers they would. (“Don’t worry,” the land speculator Charles Dana Wilber said, “the rain will follow the plow!”) Rather, the main effect of the larger land parcels was to leave the homesteaders in a state of what DeVoto called “fearful isolation” from one another, especially during the lengthy winters. More than a few committed suicide, while others slouched back east, broken in sundry ways. Still others stayed and survived, barely, as small-time cattle and sheep raisers, at least until the big corporate ranchers—by bribing local officials or, in some cases, by simply murdering the homesteaders—finally got hold of their grazing land.

Here and there, the little guys fought back, in the courts and with guns, but what we saw on Little House on the Prairie and a score of other TV shows and movies was basically one large lie; the system—if you can call unfettered capitalism a system—was designed to defeat the hardworking farmer. Men in suits proved far more dangerous than the increasingly prevalent gray wolves. Western banks, then virtually unregulated, preyed on the little man’s naivete and desperation; the railroads charged punishing rates, as monopolies will, to ship their scrawny animals to market and bring in expensive supplies.

Men wearing badges weren’t any better. They were often conveniently absent, or sometimes appallingly present, when “detectives” working for the cattle barons broke into a home, dragged out the breadwinner, and took him somewhere to be shot, poisoned, or hanged. “The cattlemen… were always arrogant and always deluded,” wrote Bernard DeVoto. “They thought themselves the freest men who ever lived, but even more than other Westerners, they were peons of their Eastern bankers and of the railroads.”

One short-term solution was alcohol. Many settlers drank themselves into a stupor as often as possible, further fueling their depression. Society was crumbling, and because law enforcement was so thinly spread and so erratic, citizens had no real recourse. Wyoming, in particular, had an end-of-days feel, never more so than in October 1893, when Governor John Eugene Osborne danced at his inaugural ball in shoes made from the skin of convicted murderer George “Big Nose” Parrott, who had gone to the gallows a dozen years earlier.

Such dystopian conditions no doubt fostered the rise and ensured the popularity of a dashing, corporation-bedeviling bandit like Butch Cassidy. But William Goldman, a practical man with finely tuned commercial instincts, realized that he could not in the late 1960s sell a script about a broken American dream. The country was still in denial about the nervous breakdown it was going through with the slow-motion failure of the Vietnam War and the assassinations of John F. Kennedy, Robert F. Kennedy, and Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Goldman had to keep things simple and light and true to the patriotic myths, which decreed that rugged individualism was always rewarded and the Old West had offered unlimited promise to all. Which was fine with him because no one, he knew, would object to handsome, funny outlaws strutting around up there on the screen. Such characters, the historian Eric Hobsbawm has noted, are “considered by their people as heroes, as champions, avengers, fighters for justice, perhaps even leaders of liberation, and in any case as men to be admired, helped, and supported.” When it comes to box office receipts, bad boys will always trump good history.

On another crucial point, though—the fact that Butch, Sundance, and Ethel had in 1901 suddenly up and left for South America—Goldman and the studio powers butted heads. He thought that the trio’s decision to “run away,” as he put it, was what made the story unusual in a good way, elevating it to something beyond your average horse opera. “Butch and Sundance did what Gatsby only dreamed of doing,” Goldman wrote in his memoir Adventures in the Screen Trade. “They repeated the past. As famous as they were in the States, they were bigger legends in South America: bandidos Yanquis. We all wish for it; they made it happen.”

But by Hollywood’s lights, the strangeness of what the protagonists accomplished was precisely the problem: studio executives in those days were trained to pounce on any aberration, to instantly reweave any fraying of the formula, and the main characters’ flight from American soil was something they thought would confuse the mainstream audience. “The first time the script was shown, only one studio showed the least interest,” Goldman wrote. “And I remember an executive of that studio saying to me that South America had to go—that Butch and Sundance, in order for the movie to work, had to stand and fight the Superposse [that the railroad magnate E. H. Harriman had created to hunt them down]. Right here. In the Old West. I tried explaining that they really did go to South America, that what was so moving to me was these two guys repeating the past, then dying alone in a strange land. He replied, ‘I don’t give a shit about that—all I know is one thing: John Wayne didn’t run away.’ ”

Goldman eventually won this argument—sort of. Instead of spending time in Argentina, Chile, and Bolivia, as the outlaws actually did, the movie characters go only to the latter country, where they meet an ambiguous fate. Whatever you might think about the compromises made along the way in the creation of Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid (including the last-minute title change from The Sundance Kid and Butch Cassidy, and the insertion of a cringe-inducing, three-minute musical interlude during which Newman and Ross ride a bicycle to the tune of “Raindrops Keep Fallin’ on My Head”), the movie, after surviving some early mixed reviews, worked in all the ways that matter to the industry—which is to say it made a lot of money and won a lot of prizes, including four Oscars. Paul Newman affirmed his already lofty status, and Robert Redford, who went into the picture a promising newcomer, came out of it a top-tier star. “It forever changed the way I lived my life,” he said. For Goldman, too, it was a career turning point: he won his first Academy Award and demonstrated to the industry that he had the ability to create a story line from scratch.

Still, it’s what the film didn’t do that made it truly special: namely, it didn’t fade quickly from memory like the frothy, fizzy “action-comedy” that it may at first have seemed to be. Relatively few people had heard of the two main characters before the movie premiered in September 1969, but by the time it had worked its way through the distribution system, they were household names, and at least a few hundred people were studying them and their cohorts with varying degrees of academic rigor. Newly minted buffs started turning up at conventions of Western historians to sit on panels and deliver papers with titles such as “When Did Butch and Sundance Meet?” “The Possible Identities of Etta Place” (she is still called Etta by most American researchers), and “Did Butch and Sundance Come Back from South America?” A good number of those people, along with many of their less bookish brethren, also started spending their summer vacations in godforsaken parts of Wyoming, Montana, and Colorado, where the outlaws had committed robberies, served time, or drunk whiskey, at least according to the local tourist boards. The Cassidy charisma, it seemed, had woken from a long hibernation and was working its magic again. “The way things usually happened is that people got interested because of the movie and then stayed interested because both guys were just so decent and nice when they didn’t have to be,” says Bill Betenson, a grand-nephew of Butch’s who himself got swept up in the tide of interest postfilm and published a book called Butch Cassidy, My Uncle. (His great-grandmother Lula Betenson also wrote her own book, Butch Cassidy, My Brother.)

Not even the stars of the film were immune to their characters’ magnetic pull. Newman never did become a serious student of the outlaw; but for the rest of his life, the actor haunted rare book and manuscript shops wherever he happened to find himself, searching for what he told one dealer was “the only thing I want that I don’t have: Butch Cassidy’s autograph.” Three years after the film’s release, Redford, saying he was more intrigued than ever by the story of the pair, took a long and arduous horseback trek with a group of friends, historians, and photographers through the chain of picturesque hideouts along the Outlaw Trail, and wrote a sumptuous coffee-table book about the experience for the National Geographic Society. At around the same time, the actor bought a ski resort near Provo, Utah, and rechristened it Sundance, after both his character and the town, about a dozen miles distant, where Harry Longabaugh once escaped from jail and gained a euphonic nickname. Obviously enthralled with the word, Redford used it multiple times over the years, for a film festival, a TV channel, an institute that supports screenwriters and playwrights, a merchandise catalog, and a chain of movie theaters.

Goldman’s attempts to explain his own fascination with the Butch and Sundance story were not unromantic, but they were crepuscular, in a writerly sort of way. “Two people sharing life and death who really don’t know each other at all,” he scribbled at the bottom of the second page of his working copy of his script. And elsewhere: “Being chased is what keeps them alive.”

Redford, in contrast, had a more earnest, less nuanced take on the boys. “I have become increasingly intrigued by the many outlaws who had demonstrated wit and brains unmatched by any but the most brilliant in legitimate society,” he wrote in The Outlaw Trail: A Journey Through Time. “We have an abiding impression of the outlaw as a low-life renegade, a violent fool who lived off luck and the gun. We view him as one of society’s misbegotten who had to be hunted down like an animal by morally superior men in white hats. But it was not so. In truth, the line between the ‘good guy’ and the ‘bad guy’ in the West was often blurred, and many of the outlaws, in spite of their errant and often violent natures, were men of extraordinary skill and cunning, who by comparison made the lawmen look pathetic.”

While that may be true, it is precisely the kind of remark that makes the scholars wince. In the half century since the movie came out, the cult of Cassidy has shrunk and hardened. Its elite members now tend to play the role of party poopers, wagging their fingers and reminding the occasional wide-eyed newbie that nobody should make too much those glamorous grifters. Yes, Cassidy could be charismatic, not unlike Paul Newman, they concede, but so what? He did not free slaves or bust trusts; he did not create art or develop anything beyond a few innovations—such as a system of planting fresh mounts along his escape route as a way of easily outrunning his pursuers—that could be of benefit only to criminals. Rather, he took things that did not belong to him, and sometimes frightened innocent people in the process. “Cassidy is not worth studying,” I was told by a woman who has studied him for more than forty years. “It’s a slippery slope you’re on with this guy, so turn back while you still can.”

Butch Cassidy was “nothing but a lowlife!” Dan Buck, America’s leading authority on the subject, and his English counterpart, Mike Bell, informed me, virtually in unison, one winter evening as the three of us sat around Buck’s dining room table at his cozy house in Washington, DC. Their crankiness is understandable—even commendable—considering the high standards it connotes. Paging through moldering Montana hotel registers, searching in Mormon archives, or digging for bodies in some obscure Bolivian boneyard (as Buck and Anne Meadows did in the early 1990s) is a grinding, low-percentage business, even by the normally frustrating standards of historical research. All those aliases (if a guy had one, he probably had a half dozen; even perfectly innocent people had aliases in the Old West, and no one seemed to spell his name the same way twice) and all that unreliable Wild West journalism (Butch Cassidy—or Cassady, or Cassidey—was reported dead more times than can be counted) can make your Stetson spin. Many of the foundational texts are filled with errors. Cassidy’s first biographer, Charles Kelly, got his subject’s real name wrong, calling him George Parker instead of Robert throughout his book. Oops. Butch no doubt would have enjoyed that—and those who insist that he was still very much alive and clomping around Nevada (or Wyoming or Utah) when Kelly’s Outlaw Trail: A History of Butch Cassidy and His Wild Bunch came out in 1938, will tell you that he most definitely did take it all with a wry laugh.

You are always on marshy ground when dealing with professional obfuscators, scrambling in pursuit like a panting Pinkerton—and the Cassidy-Sundance game only gets more frustrating as time passes and fresh clues get harder and harder to come by.

As in a long marriage, familiarity has bred a kind of mock contempt among the researchers, some days less mock than others—yet never entirely real. The woman who said that Cassidy is not worth studying searches for him daily, still. The evening Buck denounced Butch in my presence, he was pouring a quite decent Mendoza Malbec in tribute, he admitted, to the bandits’ Argentinian adventures, his particular area of specialty. In vino veritas. Behold the strange and enduring power of Maxi and Annie Parker’s peculiar little baby boy.
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Latter-Day Saints are not always so saintly.

No one understood that better in 1866 than the Indians around Circleville, Utah, who, by then, had been dealing with Mormon settlers for nearly two decades. So when a gaggle of white men, wearing their best poker faces, rode into a community of about twenty impoverished Paiutes on the morning of April 23 and announced that the local bishop wanted the residents to come to town to hear a letter he had written to them, the adults in the camp reacted warily. Was this an order or an invitation? Were they out of favor with the Mormon holy man, who had already shown his disdain for Indians? The Paiutes had seen more than once how easily these pale newcomers could turn purple with rage.

To go or not to go? Even in that dry and crushingly desolate environment—historian and novelist Wallace Stegner would later describe the southern Utah landscape as “the geography of despair”—listening to a sermon, or whatever it was, did not seem to the Paiutes like an agreeable way to spend an evening. Clearly, the prudent choice would be to stay at home in their tumbledown wickiups, eat a bit of lizard or deer, and fall asleep as usual. But still they were torn.

The Paiutes, after all, were the “good Indians,” known for doing what they were told. They liked to emphasize to the white men, who sometimes didn’t seem to grasp the distinctions between tribes, that they were not the more prosperous but also more warlike Utes, who kept the Saints in a constant state of anxiety. The Utes liked to ride out of the hills without notice, screaming and swinging blankets, to drive off the settlers’ cattle. They also had a knack for materializing six or so inches outside the windows of the white people’s cabins, painted for battle and staring fiercely.

The Paiutes, in contrast, came to town smiling and bearing fresh antelope meat to trade for the Mormon ladies’ breads and cakes. They, too, endured raids by the Utes, who kidnapped their women and children and sold them into slavery in Mexico; in another world, they might have bonded with the settlers over their common enemy. But the Paiutes sensed that the white men tended to see all Indians as trouble—the only good one was a dead one, some of the Saints liked to say—especially when they were angry about something, and they were angry about something now. One week before, at nearby Fort Sanford, a Mormon militia base, two settlers had argued with two Utes about some matter now lost to history, and one of the settlers had wound up injured and one of the Indians had wound up dead. Even though the white men had come out better in the clash, their exasperation was palpable. They seemed sick to death of the fear they lived with constantly on account of their conflicts with the Utes.

Despite the sour mood that hung over the valley, four or five Paiutes decided to heed the summons to Circleville and walked the several miles into town (they were too poor to own horses), arriving in midafternoon. The Mormons weren’t satisfied with a partial turnout, though, and so they rode back and rounded up the rest—except for one Paiute man who panicked and bolted into the brush and was shot dead in his tracks. Not a good omen.



Life was difficult in Utah’s Circle Valley—whether you were an Indian, a Mormon, a flower, or an antelope—but just then it was a lot harder than it had to be because of the white men’s failure to get along with the red.

Poor treatment of Indians was not supposed to be the Mormon way. Joseph Smith, who’d founded the religion in upstate New York some forty years earlier, taught, incorrectly but ardently, that the Indians were a people set apart—Israelites who had come to North America by boat around 600 BC. Converting the “Lamanites,” as he called them, to Christianity was the number one priority of the Angel Moroni, provider of the mystical golden plates that Smith claimed were the source material for the foundational Book of Mormon.

But no such missionary work was then in progress. While Brigham Young and other Mormon leaders advised their followers to respect the area’s tribes, and to remember that they had preceded them to Utah and had first rights to the land, rank-and-file Saints treated Indians with the same callous disregard as the gentiles, or non-Mormons, did.

In the mid-nineteenth century, Mormons were aggrieved aliens. R. Laurence Moore, in his Religious Outsiders and the Making of Americans, wrote: “Mormons followed a lesson, already by their time well established in American experience, that one way of becoming American was to invent oneself out of a sense of opposition.” Although they could be strikingly cheerful at times when interacting with one another, the early Saints made no pretense of being a gentle, settled sect. “The whole nation will soon be at the feet of the Mormons,” one LDS settler wrote in 1850, “suing for mercy and protection!” Their colony, which they called Deseret, was supposed to be the staging ground for a holy but likely bloody revolution that would upend the government in Washington and replace it with a Mormon theocracy in time for Christ’s return in 1890 or, at the latest, 1891.

Brigham Young, who became the second LDS president in 1844, after Joseph Smith and his brother Hyrum were murdered by a mob in Carthage, Illinois, wanted a place, Stegner tells us, where his followers could live “without interference from politicians, mobocrats, and all that the United States stood for in the Mormon mind.” When he arrived in the Salt Lake Valley in 1847 and saw a land where “distances were terrifying, cloudbursts catastrophic, heat withering, and beauty flamboyant and bizarre and allied with death”—a land, in other words, where very few settlers in their right mind would put down stakes—he stopped his wagon and said, “This is the place!” A few years later, when he needed people to stock his off-putting paradise, a stream of Saints began to pour in from Iowa and Missouri, pushing and pulling rickety wooden handcarts, a method that Young thought would spare them (and his Church) the hassles associated with horses, even if that meant the faithful had to walk as much as 1,400 miles, often in extreme weather, to reach their promised land.

Maps of North America looked considerably different in those days. What we now call Utah was part of Mexico, a country then at war with the United States. Several months after the fighting ceased and the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo reconfigured the continent in a way that we would recognize today, Mormons started settling there. The Saints, without having to pack so much as a bindle, found themselves back within the borders of the nation they were trying to escape.

It was a wrenching nonjourney: for a community of polygamists and insurgents, being inside America meant being outside the law. But rather than trying to fit in with the majority, the Mormons in 1849 cheekily asked the federal government to create a bespoke state, Deseret, where they could plant their signature Lombardy trees, plan and build their standardized towns, plot their revolution, and define marriage however they pleased. Congress responded by signing off instead on a conventional secular territory to be called Utah. This was no cold bureaucratic rebuff: by affixing a name redolent of the Mormon-hating Utes, the government was showing the Saints a Washington Monument–size middle finger.

Ultimately, though, the squabbling didn’t really matter; no declaration from DC would have kept the Mormons isolated, not when their New Jerusalem sat squarely in the path of western migration. Oregon-bound gentiles were already traipsing through, and, as one historian has written, “shiny material reflected in the wash of California’s American River in January 1848 soon made Great Salt Lake City an indispensable way station for those westering ‘with golden visions bright before them.’ ”

The Saints profited from the gold rush by selling supplies to “the Americans,” as they called the travelers, at exorbitant prices, but, in the process, they gave travelers a peek at their controversial ways. What the LDS Church called “plural marriage” titillated and frightened mainstream Americans to a degree that’s hard to fathom if you’ve seen the photographic saltpeter that is the Saints’ old bonnet- and beard-heavy family portraiture. The Republican Party, in its defining first platform of 1854, singled out Mormon polygamy and Southern slavery as “twin relics of barbarism,” and three years later, President James Buchanan sent 2,500 army troops into the territory to enforce monogamy laws. It was an odd job for soldiers, arresting men for “cohabitation” with two or more wives. The yearlong Utah War turned out to be an almost bloodless affair in which the Saints pushed back against the federals in an indirect, possibly Indian-inspired way—by stealing their rations and stampeding their mules. According to the New York Times, they also “ridiculed the effeminacy and credulity of President Buchanan.” But we shouldn’t infer from their tactics in this instance that the Saints of those days always stopped short of killing. In September of that same year, at a place in the southern part of the territory called Mountain Meadows, the Mormon militia—provoked, it seems, by a wave of radical local leaders who exhorted them to gain “blood vengeance” for the humiliations they had suffered in the East and the Midwest—tried to goad Indians into attacking a wagon train on its way from Arkansas to California. When that didn’t work out, they did the dirty work themselves and slaughtered about 120 gentile men, women, and children who they felt had insulted them by scoffing at their overt religiosity.



What would happen in Circleville was different from the Mountain Meadows Massacre—smaller in scale, not so extensively covered in the press or in history books, and a crime against Indians instead of white men—but it is no less instructive about the Mormon mind-set as it existed in those days on the Western frontier. By the time the settlers returned with the remainder of the Paiute Indians, all pretenses of friendliness had vanished. The ten or so captive men who were herded into the meeting room in Circleville with their hands tied behind their backs, probably were not surprised to discover that no “bishop’s letter” existed—or that the Saints, while nervous and perhaps still undecided about their endgame, were eager to punish Indians of any tribe.

The denouement was both swift and pathetic. As anxiety mounted in the meeting room, the Paiutes started slipping out of their ropes. They must have signaled or whispered in their language, because, for a time, they stayed in place, hoping to make one big concerted rush and overwhelm their captors. But the gambit fell short. When the moment came and they surged desperately toward the doors and windows, none made it out. The militiamen shot every one of them at close range.

As the men lay on the floor dead or dying, the Mormons went into the basement of the house, where they had locked the Paiute women and children. One by one, those panicky people were taken upstairs and led outside, where a militiaman slit their throats. Only a few infants who could not serve as witnesses were spared.

The Saints by then had about twenty bodies to dispose of. The militiamen brought them to another house nearby, where they buried them in the basement. Then for several hours, the town stood still in a kind of shocked silence.

As night fell in Circleville, a lone traveler arrived. He was carrying a message from the regimental commander of the Mormon militia, in Salt Lake City. It said, “Be sure to see that your prisoners are treated kindly.”



It was into this welter of hatred, violence, fear, and stupidity that the outlaw known to history as Butch Cassidy was born. Robert LeRoy Parker arrived exactly ten days before the Circleville Massacre, on Friday the thirteenth of April 1866, and about twenty-five miles to the west.

Little is known about the circumstances of his birth, starting with its precise location within the town of Beaver, Utah. Was it the modest and still-occupied house built of pink granite and red brick on what today is forlorn, semirural South 200 West Street? (When I visited the site in 2016, a pickup truck rolled slowly by, leading a bedraggled horse. Then nothing happened for quite a while.) That is the conventional wisdom among those historians who have addressed the subject, even though, as the researcher Bob Goodwin has shown, the building didn’t exist until 1870. Census records indicate that little Bobby Parker did indeed live in the house between the ages of four and ten, however, so it’s possible he was born somewhere else on the property, in a structure no longer standing—or in North Creek, a sort of suburb just outside the town proper, in a house owned by his paternal grandfather, Robert, or at an unknown location elsewhere in town, in a house owned by his maternal grandmother, Jane Sinclair Gillies, as some say. Does it matter? Not to the tourist trade, which, in Beaver’s case, comes down to a trickle of Patagonia-clad trekkers who justify the town’s bumper sticker boast: “Gateway to the Tushar Mountains!” For forty-something dollars a night, you can stay at Beaver’s Butch Cassidy Inn, but don’t expect to find any pamphlets in the reception area directing you to a museum or even a statue erected in memory of the town’s most famous native. The sole statue in Beaver honors the inventor Philo T. Farnsworth, who was born nearby in a log cabin in 1906 and who for his work with electronic imaging technology has become known, somewhat misleadingly, as “the Father of Television.” The receptionist at my (different) motel had never heard of Butch Cassidy.

What we can say with some certainty about the future outlaw’s entrance into the world is that it came amidst relative peace and quiet. His parents, Maximilian and Ann Parker, married nine months and one day earlier, did not have other children yet, nor did they practice polygamy, so their household, in contrast with those of many nearby Saints, would not have been crowded with crying babies and redundant wives trying to outdo one another in the hierarchy.

Probably not even the new father was present. Maxi, as he was called, then twenty-two, had enlisted in the Mormon militia a few weeks earlier, and its records indicate he was stationed elsewhere on that day and for about three months thereafter. It was his second hitch in the semiofficial army of Saints, not because he was so devout—he wasn’t—but because service in the militia was a paying job he needed badly: for his four-month 1866 tour of duty and the use of his horse, he received $85.50. Maxi does not appear to have participated in either the Mountain Meadows or Circleville Massacres, but he said in an affidavit filed forty-four years after Robert’s birth that he was involved in a battle with Indians on April 22, 1866, which was almost certainly the scuffle at Fort Sanford.

What voices Bob Parker did hear in his first few years would have tended to be tinged with the accents of working-class Britain. Nearly 20 percent of the people in Utah at that time had been born in England, and plenty of Irish-, Scots- and Welshmen were also digging irrigation ditches, attending dances at the ward house, and doing all the communal things that good Saints did. Their robust presence in the American West was a testament to both the persuasive powers of Mormon missionaries and the extreme difficulty of life in the polluted factory towns back home.

Butch Cassidy’s paternal grandfather, Robert, was baptized into the LDS church on November 7, 1840, the same day, by no coincidence, that his Church of England parents threw him out of their house in Lancashire County, England. The Mormons saw leadership potential in the well-built, bright-eyed Lanky though, and in exchange for his singing at their street-corner revivals, they let him live at their mission house. On May 25, 1843, he married Ann Hartley, a pretty Lancashire girl who worked in the same textile mill, and soon the newlyweds moved from Burnley to Accrington. It was there, in 1844, that Maxi, the future father of a famous cowboy outlaw, was born.

Accrington provided a front-row seat for the changes then roiling European society. A year before the Parkers arrived, protests against low pay and dangerous conditions in the mills turned violent. Despite this, the family did manage to eke out a living, with Ann fitting her six-in-the-morning-to-seven-at-night shifts around the birth of five additional children, two of whom died in their first year.

If the Parkers’ life sounds Dickensian, it almost literally was: no sooner had they relocated to bustling Preston in 1853, than Charles Dickens himself came through town doing research for his novel-in-progress Hard Times. Karl Marx also paid a visit to observe the English version of the class struggle. If the philosopher had peeked inside the Parkers’ cottage, he might have seen nine-year-old Maxi striking a blow for the proletariat by refusing to polish the boots of visiting Mormon missionaries, as his father had requested.
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